

Al/ML Imaging Applications in Body Oncology

10

Robert Seifert and Peter Herhaus

Contents

10.1	General Principles	129
10.2 10.2.1	Brain	130 130
10.3	Neck	131
10.3.1	Head and Neck Cancer	131
10.3.2	Thyroid Cancer	131
10.4	Thorax	132
10.4.1	Lung Cancer	132
10.5 10.5.1 10.5.2 10.5.3	Abdomen	132 132 132 133
10.6	Skeleton	134
10.6.1	Bone Metastases	134
10.7	Hematopoietic System	134
10.7.1	Lymphoma	134
10.7.2	Multiple Myeloma	134
References		135

R. Seifert (🖂)

Department of Nuclear Medicine, University Hospital Essen, Essen, Germany e-mail: robert.seifert@uk-essen.de

P. Herhaus

Internal Medicine III, Hematology and Medical Oncology, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany

10.1 General Principles

In the following, the structure of the chapter is outlined and general principles as well as issues of artificial intelligence (AI) in nuclear medicine are discussed. There is no clear definition of AI in medical imaging nor a clear demarcation to conventional analysis techniques. Thus, other advanced image analysis methods like radiomics are summarized in this chapter as well.

The utilization of AI for detecting diseases in medical image data is rapidly emerging [1]. Consequently, AI in nuclear medicine has been widely employed for image data, and also for electronic health record data [2]. When applied to image data, AI may be used to determine the stage according to an existing staging system (like the bone scan index), to improve an existing staging system (e.g. by simplification of TIRADS), to generate new staging systems that are to complex or too time-consuming to be performed by medical experts (e.g. whole-body tumor volume quantification in PET-CTs) or to directly predict a clinically relevant endpoint (e.g. estimate grading of tumor, predict overall survival time). When applied to electronic health record data, AI may be used to predict endpoints as well. Additional approaches seem promising, like the utilization of artificial intelligence to form real-world control groups for image centric trial, as has been demonstrated for therapeutic trials [3].

An organ-wise structure is chosen to organize this chapter, as it focuses on the application of AI to oncological imaging. However, as AI is emerging in the field of nuclear medicine, two underlying trends can be observed: whole-body tumor volume quantification and individual lesion delineation. Quantification of the molecular whole-body tumor volume (e.g. ¹⁸F-FDG or PSMA avid tumor parts in contrast to morphological tumor volume) is feasible using semiautomated approaches facilitate that the quantification by AI methods. Yet, medial expert interaction is still needed to obtain valid results. Such quantification approaches are clinically needed, as the whole-body tumor volume might be a more precise parameter to assess the extent of an oncological disease [4]. Moreover, quantifying of the whole-body tumor volume might enable more precise therapy response monitoring. The second trend is to automatically delineate and grade malignancy suspicious lesions in nuclear medicine imaging by employing AI. This is a more complex and error prone task, compared to just providing assistance to medical experts. However, several studies that are presented here could demonstrate extremely promising results (e.g. fully automatic delineation of all malignancy suspicious lesions). Therefore, both the tumor volume quantification trend and individual lesion delineation trend will ultimately merge when lesion-wise classification becomes even better and is thus suited for tumor volume quantification.

There are some unsolved issues regarding the application of AI in the field of nuclear medicine and especially in oncological settings. As outlined, the quantification of the tumor volume comes into focus of many software tools that analyze PET-CT data. Yet, there is no consensus how to determine a reference standard for tumor volume quantification. It may be evident, that morphological information (e.g. obtained from the CT component) is not ideal as reference to assess the molecular volume. However, there are several strategies for the segmentation of PET volume as well, like applying a fixed threshold (e.g. every voxel >6 SUV is tumor), applying relative thresholding (e.g. 50% of local SUV_{max}), or others. Future studies have to evaluate which tumor segmentation method is closest to the actual tumor volume and should therefore be used as reference standard for AI algorithms. To this end, it might be warranted to employ the concept of probabilistic segmentations that addresses issues arising from inter- and intra-rater variance in tumor segmentations [5]. Finally, one has to bear in mind that it is at least as difficult to develop AI for a specific task as proving its incremental benefit for the patient and implementing it in the clinical routine [6, 7].

10.2 Brain

10.2.1 Glioma

The characterization of cerebral gliomas has moved from a morphological-based classification to molecular profiling, comprising of markers like IDH1 mutation status [8]. This is due to the heterogeneity of gliomas, which cannot sufficiently be differentiated by conventional imaging. Therefore, molecular imaging approaches together with machine learning methods have been proposed to enable an improved noninvasive glioma profiling. Kebir et al. could show that ¹¹C-MET PET and machine learning enabled the noninvasive diagnosis of the IDH1 status of gliomas; an area under the curve (AUC) of 0.79 was reached [9]. However, the analyzed patient collective was relatively small (n = 39) and future corroborating studies are needed.

Haubold et al. employed multiparametric ¹⁸F-FET PET-MR to noninvasively estimate grading and molecular profiles of gliomas [10]. Interestingly, the integration of ¹⁸F-FET features (like SUV_{max}) into the multiparametric MRI features has improved the estimation neither of grading nor of molecular profiling. For example, the estimation of IDH1 status had an AUC of 88% (excluding PET features). Yet again, the patient collective was relatively small (n = 42), especially given the large number of 19.284 features that were extracted for each patient.

10.3 Neck

10.3.1 Head and Neck Cancer

¹⁸F-FDG PET-CT is a reference standard examination for the detection of cervical lymph node metastases of patients with head and neck cancer; especially, if subsequent radiotherapy is planned [11]. However, the differentiation between physiological lymph nodes and suspicious lymph node metastases in ¹⁸F-FDG PET-CT might be challenging. To this end, Chen et al. have proposed a tool which combines both radiomics and 3D convolutional neuronal networks for the characterization of cervical lymph node metastases using PET-CT [12]. Unfortunately, the patient collective was small (n = 59) and the reference standard for nodal involvement was an expert rating.

Huang et al. proposed a method for the automated delineation of head and neck cancer using PET-CT data and demonstrated its feasibility [13]. Yet, despite the use of bicentric data, the generalizability of the presented approach still needs to be proven. Zhao et al. have followed a similar approach and aimed at the automated delineation of nasopharyngeal carcinoma on PET-CT data [14]. The authors adopted the U-Net design which used both PET and CT images as input and achieved a dice score (which is a measure of segmentation accuracy) of 87.5%.

10.3.2 Thyroid Cancer

Thyroid nodules are frequently seen on ultrasound examinations; however, only a small fraction of thyroid nodules is caused by thyroid cancer [15]. To facilitate the characterization of thyroid nodules as either malignancy suspicious or benign, the ACR TI-RADS system has been proposed [16]. ACR TI-RADS comprises five categories (like echogenicity or shape) and allocates a score for the degree of each category. The sum of all five category scores stratifies the likelihood of the presence of thyroid cancer. The likelihood of cancer is in turn graded in five categories (1-benign to 5-highly suspicious). Despite good reason for the individual categories, no study could corroborate a given score (e.g. in the echogenicity category, the hyperechoic criterium has a score of 1, whereas hyoechoic has a score of 2). Therefore, Wildman-Tobriner et al. used AI to evaluate, if the individual scores of ultrasound features were appropriate or if ACR TI-RADS could be simplified. Interestingly, the scores of their revised ACR TI-RADS called AI TI-RADS were indeed simplified (e.g. hyperechoic criterium got a score of 0 and was therefore neglectable, whereas hypoechoic remained with score of 2). Moreover, the authors could corroborate that the sensitivity of AI TI-RADS remained high compared to conventional ACR TI-RADS (93%), whereas the specificity of AI TI-RADS increased compared to ACR TI-RADS (65% vs. 47%). This interesting work could facilitate the use of this manual classification system and might be expanded to other classifications as well.

Instead of training a neuronal network to estimate an ACT TI-RADS score (or a similar classification), some groups directly used the histological classification as ground truth for training and evaluation. Ko et al. could show that a convolutional neuronal network obtained high AUC results (0.835–0.850) and was not statistically differed form radiologists (AUC: 0.805–0.860) [17]. Importantly, histological ground truth was present for all patients. There have also been reports on optimized network architectures dedicated to ultrasound images of thyroid cancer [18]. Li et al. presented a retrospective multicenter study evaluating the performance of a neuronal network in detecting thyroid cancer by ultrasound images, which comprised 45.644 patients [19]. Importantly, external validation cohorts were present as well. For the internal validation cohort, both sensitivity (93.4%) and specificity (86.1%) were remarkably high. The authors concluded that sensitivity was similar to a group of skilled radiologists, but the specificity was statistically significantly improved.

10.4 Thorax

10.4.1 Lung Cancer

Fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) PET-CT is the standard diagnostic tool for the staging of patients with lung cancer [20]. Sibille et al. developed a software for the automated segmentation of suspicious FDG foci using acquisitions of 302 lung cancer patients amongst other patients [21]. The proposed software runs fully automatically and estimates not only the classification of each ¹⁸F-FDG hot spot (suspicious i.e. metastasis vs. not suspicious i.e. physiologic) but also the anatomical location of each hot spot (e.g. lymph node level). The accuracies both of classification (AUC = 0.98) and of anatomical location (accuracy = 97% for body part, 84% for organ or tissue) were remarkably high. Interestingly, the proposed neuronal network did not segment the ¹⁸F-FDG foci in the PET acquisition, but in contrast analyzed hotspots found by conventional thresholding. This procedure might lead to inaccuracies, as confluent lesions or confluence between a metastasis and an organ with physiological ¹⁸F-FDG accumulation might not be separated properly by conventional thresholding. The neuronal networks used by this software require the input of coronal reformatted image data. Each tracer accumulation is analyzed separately and only its immediate vicinity is present to the network. Because of that, the input of the entire PET as maximum intensity projection (MIP) significantly improved the accuracy. Similar to the human perception, the MIP and other reformations may facilitate the recognition of global uptake patterns, e.g. caused by brown adipose tissue activation. Additionally, CT information was used in conjunction with the PET as input for the neuronal network and significantly improved the accuracy compared to PET only inputs. Future studies have to evaluate the predictive potential of the automatically determined ¹⁸F-FDG tumor volume.

10.5 Abdomen

10.5.1 Esophageal Cancer

Beukinga et al. used ¹⁸F-FDG PET examinations before and after neoadjuvant radio chemotherapy to predict the outcome of patients suffering from esophageal cancer [22]. The authors extracted radiomic features, which combined with the T-stage could predict complete pathologic response with high accuracy (AUC = 0.81). However, only 73 patients were included in this study, which might limit the transferability to larger or inhomogeneous patient collectives.

10.5.2 Liver Tumor

Radioembolization with ⁹⁰Y spheres is a therapeutic option for patients with liver metastases or primary hepatic tumor and also known as selective internal radioembolization (SIRT). Due to impairment of uninvolved liver tissue and generally end stage disease, the prediction of overall survival prior to SIRT is clinically needed. Therefore, Ingirsch et al. had retrospectively analyzed electronic health records (e.g. blood level of bilirubin, age) of 366 patients that received ⁹⁰Y radioembolization by using machine learning methods [23]. The authors identified baseline cholinesterase and bilirubin levels as predictor for overall survival after SIRT.

10.5.3 Prostate Cancer

Prostate cancer is the leading cause of cancerrelated death in men and has a remarkably early tendency to form metastases; already at time of prostatectomy, approximately 70% of men show prostate cancer cell in the bone marrow [24]. The sensitive detection of metastases as well as monitoring of the whole-body tumor load is of great clinical importance. To this end, prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) targeting PET-CT has been widely employed and could demonstrate superior performance both in primary and recurrent prostate cancer [25, 26]. Several AI-based approaches have tried to analyze PSMA-PET examinations with regard to individual lesion classification and whole-body tumor volume.

Zhao et al. have developed a neuronal network for the delineation of PSMA avid metastases in the pelvic area [27]. The authors had adopted the U-Net architecture to include both PET and CT slices as input and aimed at a voxel wise segmentation of prostate cancer metastases [28]. The network employs axial, coronal and sagittal reformations as input to mimic the reading of a human expert. For training and evaluation, metastases were manually delineated by nuclear medicine experts in 193 PSMA PET acquisitions; their delineations were used as ground truth data. The limitation to the pelvic region was necessary due to proof of concept nature of the publication; however, extension to the whole body seems also feasible. The work of Zhao et al. is of great relevance, as it enables the fully automated segmentation of prostate cancer metastases with great precision (99%) and recall (99%). However, because of point spread artifacts, it could prove disadvantageous that the proposed neuronal network outputs the tumor segmentation.

Gafita et al. proposed an open source software (qPSMA) for the semi-automated quantification of the whole-body tumor burden in PSMA-PET CTs [29]. Despite the name prostate-specific membrane antigen, PSMA shows physiological accumulation in many organs, like in liver, spleen, bowel, kidneys, salivary glands and others. The qPSMA software assists the reading physician in segmenting all prostate cancer metastases by excluding some organs with physiological update from the analysis. To this end, a random forest-based algorithm is used by qPSMA to segment organs with physiological PSMA accumulation employing the CT component [30]. The qPSMA software not only masks out physiological PSMA uptake, but likewise segments PSMA foci with a patient specific SUV threshold. Each voxel exceeding this threshold is regarded as metastases, if it is not manually or automatically excluded. In addition, qPSMA enables the adjustment of predefined organ exclusion masks and facilitates the exclusion or inclusion of missed PSMA foci using brush tools. For example, liver metastases had to be added manually due to the heuristic logic that the liver uptake is physiologic, and the entire liver therefore be removed from the analysis. The inter-rater and intra-rater correlation of qPSMA is high for the segmentation of individual metastasis.

An approach similar to qPSMA was proposed by Seifert et al. [31]. Likewise, it facilitates the semiautomated quantification of the whole-body tumor volume by excluding physiologic PSMA foci from the analysis. Moreover, it automatically assigns the anatomical location to each PSMA focus. In contrast to qPSMA, the software employs a two-step approach for delineation of foci: first, voxels exceeding a patient-specific threshold are selected as candidate lesions. Second, these candidate lesions were segmented by thresholding with 50% of the local SUV_{max} . Thereby, no brush tools are needed for refinement; physiological candidate lesions can be deleted easily. The author could show that this procedure achieves a high inter-rater agreement. Interestingly, the authors also reported that semiautomatically quantified whole-body tumor volume stratified end-stage prostate cancer patients according to the overall survival.

10.6 Skeleton

10.6.1 Bone Metastases

Bone scans are primarily used for the detection and monitoring of bone metastases and one of the high throughput examinations of nuclear medicine. Especially for therapy monitoring of prostate cancer patients, bone scans are an established imaging method [32]. However, the interpretation of bone scans to calculate a quantitative biomarker, which is called bone scan index (BSI), is time-consuming [33, 34]. To calculate the BSI, at first, the fraction of metastatic involvement of each bone has to be calculated. Second, this fraction is multiplied with the fraction that the bone constitutes to the entire skeleton. By summation of all values, the BSI is obtained. Thereby, BSI represents the fraction of metastatically affected bone, i.e. a BSI of 3 means that 3% of the entire skeletal mass is affected by metastases.

Several solutions have been proposed to automatically quantify the BSI. Among them is the work of Ulmert et al., who proposed a method which uses neuronal networks for the automated segmentation and classification of hotspots in bone scans [35]. Interestingly, the development of the first prototype dates back to 2006, where AI was not the now established buzzword, which might be the reason why the authors called their work "computer-based decision support system" [36]. The automatically derived BSI could statistically significant stratify prostate cancer patients according to overall survival [37].

As mentioned above, PSMA-PET-CT has emerged as reference standard examination for patients with prostate cancer. Therefore, the quantification of the osseous tumor volume from PSMA-PET-CT, similar to the BSI, is of importance. To this end, Bieth et al. have proposed a software for the quantification of the osseous tumor burden using PSMA-PET-CT acquisitions [38]. Hammes et al. followed a similar approach (EBONI) and provided the source code of their software [39].

10.7 Hematopoietic System

10.7.1 Lymphoma

¹⁸F-FDG -PET-CT is a standard diagnostic for staging and therapy monitoring of lymphoma patients. However, due to highly variable physiological ¹⁸F-FDG uptake, the interpretation of ¹⁸F-FDG PET acquisitions is challenging, especially for neuronal networks. The software proposed by Sibille et al. that was already presented above was not only trained using lung cancer patients, but with ¹⁸F-FDG PET-CTs of lymphoma patients (n = 327) as well [21]. Therefore, the software obtained high accuracy in the classification (AUC = 0.95) and the determination of the anatomical location (Accuracy = 97% for body part and 84% for organ or tissue). Thereby, the automatic quantification of a whole-body tumor volume is feasible. Future studies have to elucidate if the automatically determined tumor volume can stratify patients according to their overall survival or other clinically relevant end points.

10.7.2 Multiple Myeloma

Multiple myeloma (MM) is a clonal plasma cell neoplasia and detection of bone lesions is crucial during diagnostic work-up. MM lesions not only display an important criterion for the initiation of treatment but moreover discriminate MM from pre-malignant diseases such as monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Whole body low-dose CT is the gold standard in MM, but MRI is attributed with a higher sensitivity in the detection of small MM lesions. CXCR4directed PET imaging with ⁶⁸Ga-Pentixafor represents another imaging modality for the detection of active MM lesions.

Martínez-Martínez et al. have developed a fully automated method that identifies bone marrow infiltration in low-dose CT of MM patients [40]. Their method was validated on a dataset of 127 subjects where it was able to discriminate bone marrow infiltration in patients with MM from healthy controls with an AUC of 0.996. The limitation of their study is that their method is only validated for the bone marrow infiltration in the femur. However, lesion distribution in MM patients ranges from a single lesion to multiple lesions with a disseminated pattern and those lesions do not necessarily have to affect the femur.

An automated approach to determine wholebody bone lesions in MM patients was conducted by Xu et al. [41]. The combination of ⁶⁸Ga-Pentixafor PET that registers elevated CXCR4-expression within MM lesions with anatomical features from the CT-scan was used in this study. Two CNNs (V-Net and W-Net) were used for the segmentation and detection of MM lesions. Their study that was first verified in digital phantoms (n = 120) and further validated in a small patient cohort (n = 12) revealed that the W-Net architecture with the combination of PET and CT data was most accurate in lesion detection and achieved a dice-score of 73%. However, this study was mainly conducted on digital phantoms and further validation in a bigger patient cohort and correlation to clinical parameters such as treatment response or overall survival has to be evaluated.

References

- Liu X, Faes L, Kale AU, et al. A comparison of deep learning performance against health-care professionals in detecting diseases from medical imaging: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Digit Heal. 2019;1:e271–97.
- Nensa F, Demircioglu A, Rischpler C. Artificial intelligence in nuclear medicine. J Nucl Med. 2019;60:29S–37S.
- Feld E, Harton J, Meropol NJ, et al. Effectiveness of first-line immune checkpoint blockade versus carboplatin-based chemotherapy for metastatic urothelial cancer. Eur Urol. 2019;76:524–32.
- Cottereau AS, Becker S, Broussais F, et al. Prognostic value of baseline total metabolic tumor volume (TMTV0) measured on FDG-PET/CT in patients with peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL)+. Ann Oncol. 2016;27:719–24.
- 5. Kohl SAA, Romera-Paredes B, Maier-Hein KH, Rezende DJ, Eslami SMA, Kohli P, Zisserman A,

Ronneberger O. A hierarchical probabilistic U-net for modeling multi-scale ambiguities. 2019. p. 1–25.

- Rajkomar A, Dean J, Kohane I, et al. The practical implementation of artificial intelligence technologies in medicine. Nat Med. 2019;25:15–8.
- Wiens J, Saria S, Sendak M, et al. Do no harm: a roadmap for responsible machine learning for health care. Nat Med. 2019;25:1337–40.
- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, Ellison DW. The 2016 World Health Organization classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;131:803–20.
- Kebir S, Weber M, Lazaridis L, et al. Hybrid 11 C-MET PET/MRI combined with "machine learning" in glioma diagnosis according to the revised glioma WHO classification 2016. Clin Nucl Med. 2019;44:214–20.
- Haubold J, Demircioglu A, Gratz M, et al. Noninvasive tumor decoding and phenotyping of cerebral gliomas utilizing multiparametric 18F-FET PET-MRI and MR fingerprinting. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2019;47(6):1435–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00259-019-04602-2.
- Grégoire V, Lefebvre JL, Licitra L, Felip E. Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: EHNS-ESMO-ESTRO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2010;21:184–6.
- 12. Chen L, Zhou Z, Sher D, Zhang Q, Shah J, Pham N-L, Jiang S, Wang J. Combining many-objective radiomics and 3D convolutional neural network through evidential reasoning to predict lymph node metastasis in head and neck cancer. Phys Med Biol. 2019;64:075011.
- Huang B, Chen Z, Wu PM, et al. Fully automated delineation of gross tumor volume for head and neck cancer on PET-CT using deep learning: a dual-center study. Contrast Media Mol Imaging. 2018;2018:8923028. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8923028.
- 14. Zhao L, Lu Z, Jiang J, Zhou Y, Wu Y, Feng Q. Automatic nasopharyngeal carcinoma segmentation using fully convolutional networks with auxiliary paths on dual-modality PET-CT images. J Digit Imaging. 2019;32:462–70.
- Smith-Bindman R, Lebda P, Feldstein VA, Sellami D, Goldstein RB, Brasic N, Jin C, Kornak J. Risk of thyroid cancer based on thyroid ultrasound imaging characteristics. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173:1788.
- Tessler FN, Middleton WD, Grant EG, et al. ACR thyroid imaging, reporting and data system (TI-RADS): white paper of the ACR TI-RADS committee. J Am Coll Radiol. 2017;14:587–95.
- Ko SY, Lee JH, Yoon JH, et al. Deep convolutional neural network for the diagnosis of thyroid nodules on ultrasound. Head Neck. 2019;41:885–91.
- Li H, Weng J, Shi Y, Gu W, Mao Y, Wang Y, Liu W, Zhang J. An improved deep learning approach for detection of thyroid papillary cancer in ultrasound images. Sci Rep. 2018;8:1–12.

- Li X, Zhang S, Zhang Q, et al. Diagnosis of thyroid cancer using deep convolutional neural network models applied to sonographic images: a retrospective, multicohort, diagnostic study. Lancet Oncol. 2019;20:193–201.
- Planchard D, Popat S, Kerr K, et al. Metastatic nonsmall cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018;29:iv192–237.
- 21. Sibille L, Seifert R, Avramovic N, Vehren T, Spottiswoode B, Zuehlsdorff S, Schäfers M. 18 F-FDG PET/CT uptake classification in lymphoma and lung cancer by using deep convolutional neural networks. Radiology. 2019;294(2):445–52.
- 22. Beukinga RJ, Hulshoff JB, Mul VEM, Noordzij W, Kats-Ugurlu G, Slart RHJA, Plukker JTM. Prediction of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy with baseline and restaging 18F-FDG PET imaging biomarkers in patients with esophageal cancer. Radiology. 2018;287:983–92.
- 23. Ingrisch M, Schöppe F, Paprottka K, Fabritius M, Strobl FF, De Toni EN, Ilhan H, Todica A, Michl M, Paprottka PM. Prediction of 90 Y radioembolization outcome from pretherapeutic factors with random survival forests. J Nucl Med. 2018;59:769–73.
- 24. Morgan TM, Lange PH, Porter MP, Lin DW, Ellis WJ, Gallaher IS, Vessella RL. Disseminated tumor cells in prostate cancer patients after radical prostatectomy and without evidence of disease predicts biochemical recurrence. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:677–83.
- Hofman MS, Lawrentschuk N, Francis RJ, et al. Prostate-specific membrane antigen PET-CT in patients with high-risk prostate cancer before curative-intent surgery or radiotherapy (proPSMA): a prospective, randomised, multi-centre study. Lancet. 2020;395(10231):1208–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30314-7.
- Fendler WP, Calais J, Eiber M, et al. Assessment of 68Ga-PSMA-11 PET accuracy in localizing recurrent prostate cancer: a prospective single-arm clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2019;5:856–63.
- 27. Zhao Y, Gafita A, Vollnberg B, Tetteh G, Haupt F, Afshar-Oromieh A, Menze B, Eiber M, Rominger A, Shi K. Deep neural network for automatic characterization of lesions on 68Ga-PSMA-11 PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2020;47:603–13.
- Ronneberger O, Fischer P, Brox T. U-Net: convolutional networks for biomedical image segmentation. In: Medical image computing and computer assisted intervention – MICCAI 2015, Lecture notes in computer science; 2015. p. 234–41.
- 29. Gafita A, Bieth M, Krönke M, Tetteh G, Navarro F, Wang H, Günther E, Menze B, Weber WA, Eiber M. qPSMA: semiautomatic software for whole-body tumor burden assessment in prostate cancer using 68 ga-PSMA11 PET/CT. J Nucl Med. 2019;60:1277–83.
- Bieth M, Peter L, Nekolla SG, Eiber M, Langs G, Schwaiger M, Menze B. Segmentation of skeleton and

organs in whole-body CT images via iterative trilateration. IEEE Trans Med Imaging. 2017;36:2276–86.

- 31. Seifert R, Herrmann K, Kleesiek J, Schafers MA, Shah V, Xu Z, Chabin G, Garbic S, Spottiswoode B, Rahbar K. Semi-automatically quantified tumor volume using Ga-68-PSMA-11-PET as biomarker for survival in patients with advanced prostate cancer. J Nucl Med. 2020;61(12):1786–92. https://doi. org/10.2967/jnumed.120.242057.
- 32. Armstrong AJ, Al-Adhami M, Lin P, et al. Association between new unconfirmed bone lesions and outcomes in men with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer treated with enzalutamide: secondary analysis of the PREVAIL and AFFIRM randomized clinical trials. JAMA Oncol. 2020;6:217–25.
- Erdi YE, Humm JL, Imbriaco M, Yeung H, Larson SM. Quantitative bone metastases analysis based on image segmentation. J Nucl Med. 1997;38:1401–6.
- 34. Imbriaco M, Larson SM, Yeung HW, Mawlawi OR, Erdi Y, Venkatraman ES, Scher HI. A new parameter for measuring metastatic bone involvement by prostate cancer: the bone scan index. Clin Cancer Res. 1998;4:1765–72.
- 35. Ulmert D, Kaboteh R, Fox JJ, et al. A novel automated platform for quantifying the extent of skeletal tumour involvement in prostate cancer patients using the bone scan index. Eur Urol. 2012;62:78–84.
- 36. Sadik M, Jakobsson D, Olofsson F, Ohlsson M, Suurkula M, Edenbrandt L. A new computer-based decision-support system for the interpretation of bone scans. Nucl Med Commun. 2006;27:417–23.
- 37. Armstrong AJ, Anand A, Edenbrandt L, et al. Phase 3 assessment of the automated bone scan index as a prognostic imaging biomarker of overall survival in men with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer a secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4:944–51.
- 38. Bieth M, Krönke M, Tauber R, Dahlbender M, Retz M, Nekolla SG, Menze B, Maurer T, Eiber M, Schwaiger M. Exploring new multimodal quantitative imaging indices for the assessment of osseous tumor burden in prostate cancer using 68Ga-PSMA PET/ CT. J Nucl Med. 2017;58:1632–7.
- Hammes J, Täger P, Drzezga A. EBONI: a tool for automated quantification of bone metastasis load in PSMA PET/CT. J Nucl Med. 2017;59:1070–5.
- Martínez-Martínez F, Kybic J, Lambert L, Mecková Z. Fully automated classification of bone marrow infiltration in low-dose CT of patients with multiple myeloma based on probabilistic density model and supervised learning. Comput Biol Med. 2016;71:57–66.
- 41. Xu L, Tetteh G, Lipkova J, Zhao Y, Li H, Christ P, Piraud M, Buck A, Shi K, Menze BH. Automated whole-body bone lesion detection for multiple myeloma on 68 Ga-Pentixafor PET/CT imaging using deep learning methods. Contrast Media Mol Imaging. 2018;2018:1–11.